THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Order (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 5, 2016)  
Appellate Case No. 2015-002315

---

RECEIVED

APR 15 2016

SC Court of Appeals

State of South Carolina, ..... Petitioner,

v.

David Zackary Ledford, ..... Respondent.

---

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516  
Columbia, SC 29648

## **QUESTION PRESENTED**

Did the Court of Appeals err in summarily dismissing the State's appeal before briefing as "not immediately appealable" because it failed to consider the unusual circumstances presented by the action of the trial court, the patently erroneous nature of the ruling by the trial court, and the novel question of law presented by the pursuit of this interlocutory appeal?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

David Zachary Ledford (Respondent) was indicted by the Greenwood County grand jury for inflicting great bodily injury upon a child in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-95 (2003 & Supp. 2015) (App.p.513-p.514). He proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. (App.p.1).<sup>1</sup> At a charge conference after the close of all of the evidence, the trial court agreed to give a jury instruction that had been requested by Respondent. The State objected to the charge and expressed a desire to appeal the ruling. The trial court agreed to recess the trial and hold the matter in abeyance without releasing the jury, to allow the State to attempt to pursue an appeal of the jury charge ruling. (App.p.483-p.500).

On November 5, 2015, the State filed and served notice of appeal from the oral ruling with the South Carolina Court of Appeals. (App.p.532-p.533). On November 10, 2015, Respondent filed a “Motion to Dismiss Appeal and Remand the Case” as well as a memorandum in support of his motion. (App.p.534-p.543). On November 30, 2015, the State submitted a return to the motion to dismiss (App.p.544-p.553), and on the same day filed a “Motion to Certify Appeal” with this Court. (App.p.559-p.563). On December 7, 2015, Respondent filed a Reply to the State’s Return to his motion to dismiss. (App.p.554-p.558).

On February 5, 2016, the Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald filed an Order on behalf of the Court of Appeals granting Respondent’s motion to dismiss the State’s appeal in the above captioned case: “Because the ruling is not immediately appealable under section 14-3-330 of the South Carolina Code (1976 & Supp. 2015).” (App.p.564)

---

<sup>1</sup> A transcript of the trial was requested from the court reporter on November 5, 2015, and was received by the State on April 11, 2016. It has been included in the Appendix which is being submitted in conjunction with this Petition for a Writ of Certiorari.

On February 8, 2016, the State submitted a petition for rehearing and by order filed March 18, 2016, the petition was denied by a three-judge panel of the Court of Appeals. (App.p.565-p.570). On March 23, 2016, this Court filed an Order denying the State's motion to certify the appeal as moot. (App.p.571). This Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals, submitted on behalf of the State, now follows.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

As noted above, Respondent was indicted by the Greenwood County grand jury for inflicting great bodily injury upon a child in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-95 (2003 & Supp. 2014). The indictment alleges:

That David Zachary Ledford, on or about December 16, 2013, in Greenwood County, **willfully** and unlawfully inflict[ed] great bodily injury upon a child; in that the said defendant did violently shake and/or hit the victim . . . which acts caused great bodily injury to the child, in violation of the provisions of section 16-3-95 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

(App.p.513-p.514) (emphasis added). The statute referenced in the indictment and prohibiting the conduct, Section 16-3-95 of the South Carolina Code, states: "It is unlawful to inflict great bodily injury upon a child." The statute does not contain the word "willfully."

Respondent proceeded to trial before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., and a jury. A charge conference was held after the close of all of the evidence and the trial court's denial of Respondent Ledford's directed verdict motion. At the conclusion of the charge conference and over the State's objection, the trial court orally ruled it would give Appellant's "Request to Charge No. 1," to include the definition of "willfully," but it would omit the last sentence of that request to charge. The trial court referenced the

State's use of the word "willful" in the indictment in support of its decision. (App.p.483-p.500). Respondent's "Request to Charge No. 1" states:

"It is unlawful to inflict great bodily injury upon a child." To violate this statute, the state is required to prove that Zack Ledford acted wilfully. To act wilfully, the state is required to prove that Mr. Ledford knew his act would inflict great bodily injury upon a child. It is not sufficient that the state prove that he acted negligently, grossly negligent or reckless in his action. Such actions are not wilful as alleged in the indictment.

(App.p.531; p.542). The State objected to the jury instruction, which was contrary to and added an element to the statute prescribing the offense. The State expressed a desire to appeal the ruling because the incorrect charge would impair its ability to proceed with the trial. The trial court agreed to recess the trial and hold the matter in abeyance without releasing the jury, to allow the State to attempt to appeal the jury charge ruling.

Respondent did not dispute that the filing of a notice of appeal would divest the trial court of jurisdiction to proceed with the trial during the pendency of the appeal. (App.p.483-p.500).

On November 5, 2015, the State filed and served notice of appeal from the oral ruling. In the notice of appeal, the State explained it was appealing because "the trial court's order affects a substantial right and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken." (App.p.532-p.533).

### **CERTIORARI**

The State submits there are special and important reasons for this Court to exercise its discretion to grant certiorari and to review the summary decision of the Court of Appeals in this matter pursuant to Rule 242(b), SCACR. Specifically, the State submits the decision of the Court of Appeals dismissing the State's appeal before briefing

as “not immediately appealable under section 14-3-330 of the South Carolina Code” failed to consider or address the unusual circumstances presented by the action of the trial court, the patently erroneous nature of the ruling by the trial court, and the novel question of law that was presented by the pursuit of this interlocutory appeal. For this reason, the State respectfully asks this Court to grant this petition for a writ of certiorari and issue an opinion which: (1) reverses the Court of Appeals’ decision to dismiss the appeal, (2) reverses the trial court’s ruling that it would give a patently erroneous jury charge, because that erroneous charge materially and appreciably impairs the State’s ability to proceed with the trial, and (3) directs the trial court to proceed with the trial after giving a complete and proper jury charge that includes an instruction on the actual elements of the statutory offense without adding an element that is not part of the statute.

## ARGUMENT

**The Court of Appeals erred in summarily dismissing the State’s appeal before briefing as “not immediately appealable” because it failed to consider the unusual circumstances presented by the action of the trial court, the patently erroneous nature of the ruling by the trial court, and the novel question of law presented by the pursuit of this interlocutory appeal.**

Before the Court of Appeals, Respondent moved to dismiss the State’s appeal asserting “the decision of the trial court to charge the jury the definition of willfully as alleged in the State’s indictment is the State’s acknowledgment that its evidence is insufficient to sustain a conviction.” He argued the State has no right to appeal a mid-trial jury charge ruling which substantially impairs the prosecution, despite the fact that the State would be left without a remedy for the legal error committed by the trial court if it was not able to appeal before final judgment.

Respondent also asked the Court of Appeals to remand the case to the court of general sessions for dismissal of the charge which was, in essence, a request for the appellate court to direct a verdict on an issue neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court. The State argued both of Respondent's requests were without merit; however, the Court of Appeals disagreed in part and granted Respondent's motion to dismiss the State's appeal as "not immediately appealable." The State contends the summary dismissal by the Court of Appeals was in error and now asks this Court to grant certiorari to review its decision.

The Court of Appeals should only have dismissed the State's appeal if Respondent was able to show in his motion that the State was statutorily prohibited from taking an appeal from the trial court's ruling in this case. However, Respondent's arguments to the Court of Appeals were faulty and he failed to make the requisite showing. The trial court's ruling is immediately appealable because without recourse to challenge that ruling in the appellate courts, the State will be precluded from correcting the egregious error in the trial court's interlocutory ruling and left without a remedy.

The right to appeal is controlled by statute. Jefferson by Johnson v. Gene's Used Cars, Inc., 295 S.C. 317, 368 S.E.2d 456 (1988). In the absence of a statute or rule that permits the immediate appeal of an interlocutory order, only final orders are generally appealable. Culbertson v. Clemens, 322 S.C. 20, 471 S.E.2d 163 (1996); Woodward v. Westvaco Corp., 319 S.C. 240, 319 S.E.2d 392 (1995). An order is interlocutory and not final when "there is some further act which must be done by the court prior to a determination of the rights of the parties . . . ." Mid-State Distribs., Inc. v. Century Imps., Inc., 310 S.C. 330, 335, 426 S.E.2d 777, 781 (1993). The purpose of this general practice

is to prevent piecemeal appeals. Breland v. Love Chevrolet Olds, Inc., 339 S.C. 89 (2000). Interlocutory decisions or rulings are generally not immediately appealable because appellate review is available after the final judgment. Id.

However, South Carolina, like most jurisdictions, confers the right to the immediate appeal of some interlocutory orders in S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 (1976 & Supp. 2014), which outlines appellate jurisdiction and delineates the categories of interlocutory decisions subject to immediate appeal. See also Rule 201, SCACR (“Appeal may be taken, as provided by law, from any final judgment, appealable order or decision.”); State v. Miller, 289 S.C. 426, 427, 346 S.E.2d 705, 706 (1986) (“In both state and federal court, the right to appeal is conferred by statute or rule, S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 (1976) . . . .”); Woodward v. Westvaco Corp., 319 S.C. 240, 319 S.E.2d 392 (1995) (“Absent some specialized statute, determining if an interlocutory order is immediately appealable depends on whether the order falls within one of the several categories of appealable judgments, decrees, or orders listed in S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330.”).

Specifically, S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 (2) confers jurisdiction upon our appellate courts for the correction of errors of law when the order or ruling affects “a substantial right when such order . . . in effect determines the action and prevents a judgement from which an appeal might be taken . . . .” An order affecting a “substantial right” is defined as one which discontinues an action, **prevents an appeal**, grants or refuses a new trial, or strikes an action or defense. Mid-State Distribs., Inc. v. Century Imps., Inc., 310 S.C. 330, 426 S.E.2d 777 (1993) (emphasis added); see also Breland v. Love Chevrolet Olds, Inc., 339 S.C. 89 (2000) (stating that immediate appeals are permitted where a substantial right could not be vindicated on appeal). An immediate

appeal of an interlocutory order is permitted when no appellate review is available to correct the trial court's error after the final judgment. Id. (citing Creed v. Stokes, 285 S.C. 542, 331 S.E.2d 351 (1985)). In South Carolina, an immediate appeal may be taken where the rights of the State would be substantially impaired if the appeal is not heard. When error in the decision or ruling cannot be vindicated on appeal, a substantial right is involved. Breland v. Love Chevrolet Olds, Inc., 339 S.C. 89, 529 S.E.2d 11 (2000).

In the context of appeals by the State in criminal cases, and based upon double jeopardy considerations, this language has been construed to prohibit such appeals after the defendant has been acquitted based upon the insufficiency of the evidence. State v. Holliday, 255 S.C. 142, 177 S.E.2d 541 (1970); State v. McWaters, 246 S.C. 534, 144 S.E.2d 718 (1965); see also State v. Ludlam, 189 S.C. 69, 200 S.E. 361 (1938) (“The ultimate of the decisions . . . is that when in the trial, or examination, the result amounts to a final determination of the case, the State cannot appeal. For instance, if there be a trial and the defendant is acquitted . . . .”); State v. Lynn, 120 S.C. 258, 113 S.C. 74, 75 (1922) (“[T]he State has no right of appeal from judgment upon verdict of acquittal in a criminal case . . . .”).

However, the State may appeal orders and rulings that significantly impair the prosecution before final judgment or when the jury's guilty verdict is set aside based upon an error of law. State v. Thompson, 348 S.C. 152, 348 S.E.2d 152 (Ct. App. 2002). Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 681, 511 S.E.2d 396, 399 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Because it so significantly impairs the prosecution of a criminal case, an order which prohibits the State from withdrawing a plea offer is directly appealable by the State under § 14-3-330(2)(a).”); State v. Sanders, 324 S.C. 314, 476 S.E.2d 711 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding the

State may appeal an order quashing an indictment on double jeopardy grounds); State v. McKnight, 287 S.C. 167, 337 S.E.2d 208 (1985) (holding the State may appeal a pretrial order granting the suppression of evidence which significantly impairs the prosecution of a criminal case); State v. Dasher, 278 S.C. 395, 297 S.E.2d 414 (1982) (finding the State may appeal an order setting aside a jury verdict where the order is based upon an error of law and that double jeopardy concerns are not implicated); State v. Holliday, at 142, 177 S.E. at 542-43 (“[T]he State has no right of appeal from a judgment of [a]cquittal in a criminal case . . . unless the verdict of acquittal was procured by the accused through fraud or collusion. . . . However, since double jeopardy is not involved . . . , we have held that the State may appeal from an order quashing an indictment . . . or from a judgment reversing or setting aside a conviction on purely legal grounds.”); State v. Royster, 181 S.C. 269, 186 S.E.2d 921 (1936) (finding the State may appeal an order that has the effect of applying to any venire of jurors by which the defendant might be tried); State v. Des Champs, 126 S.C. 416, 120 S.E. 491 (1923) (finding the State may appeal an order setting aside a conviction before sentencing, based upon an error of law.); State v. Johnson, 76 S.C. 39, 56 S.E. 544 (1907) (finding the State may appeal from the circuit court order where the defendant was convicted in city court for violating an ordinance and the circuit court held the ordinance unconstitutional); State v. Long, 66 S.C. 398, 44 S.E. 960 (1902) (stating the State may appeal an order dismissing the prosecution); State v. Bouknight, 55 S.C. 353, 33 S.E. 451 (1899) (stating that the State may appeal from a motion to quash the indictment granted during trial after the trial was suspended for appeal because the order would end the prosecution and the State would be denied appellate review of the order).

The statute which is referenced in the indictment and which prohibits the relevant conduct, Section 16-3-95, states that “[i]t is unlawful to inflict great bodily injury upon a child” and does not contain the word “willfully.” The word “willfully” in the indictment is mere surplusage and the trial court’s ruling to the contrary improperly alters the elements of the offense. That ruling to add “willfully” as an element of the offense effectively altered the level of evidentiary proof the State would be required to present to the jury in support of conviction, **after** the State’s evidence has been presented, which improperly proscribed the State’s ability to rely on the evidence of the elements as specifically delineated in the statute. See State v. Toliver, 304 S.C. 298, 299, 403 S.E.2d 676, 676-77 (Ct. App. 1991) (“When, as here, an indictment contains matter unnecessary to the description of the offense, the unnecessary matter may be disregarded as surplusage and no proof thereof is required.”); State v. Thompson, 305 S.C. 496, n.1, 409 S.E.2d 420 n.1 (Ct. App. 1991) (“Surplusage will not vitiate an indictment which, without regard to the surplusage, is sufficient to charge the offense for which the defendant is being indicted.”). Because the statute is silent as to a particular mental state, it was only necessary for the State to show, at most, criminal negligence or indifference or, alternatively, strict liability. See State v. Taylor, 323 S.C. 162, 165, 473 S.E.2d 817, 818 (Ct. App. 1996); State v. Ferguson, 302 S.C. 269, 272, 395 S.E.2d 182, 183 (1990). The trial court’s ruling in this case is premised upon legal error that heightens the State’s burden of proof and materially impairs its ability to proceed because the jury charge adds a non-existent element after all of the State’s evidence has been presented. Because jeopardy has attached, preventing an appeal after final judgment, no appellate remedy exists to vindicate the substantial right of the State to a proper jury instruction, other than

to permit an immediate appeal pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-440 (2). Unlike a defendant who can appeal a guilty verdict on grounds of an improper jury charge, the State cannot appeal a jury verdict of “not guilty” on grounds of an improper jury charge, even if the trial court clearly misstated the law.

Respondent also asked the Court of Appeals to remand the case to the court of general sessions to dismiss the action. He took the position that the appeal constitutes a concession by the State that its evidence is insufficient to support a conviction and would warrant dismissal of the charge against him. The Court of Appeals did not address this request when dismissing the State’s appeal; thus, it is not an issue before this Court.

In conclusion, the State respectfully submits that the Court of Appeals erred in granting the motion to dismiss and in summarily dismissing the State’s proper interlocutory appeal. If the appeal is not permitted to proceed, the State will be left without a means to correct a legal error that substantially impairs the prosecution of Respondent’s criminal conduct. The Court of Appeals failed to consider the unusual circumstances presented by the action of the trial court, the patently erroneous nature of the ruling by the trial court, and the novel question of law presented by the pursuit of this interlocutory appeal. The trial judge erred in ruling it would give an improper jury charge that added a non-statutory element to the offense, and the Court of Appeals erred in finding this error was not immediately appealable. The State respectfully asks this Court to grant certiorari and allow the substantive appeal to proceed with briefing on the impropriety of the trial court’s ruling.

## CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court grant the petition for a writ of certiorari and issue an order: (1) reversing the decision of the Court of Appeals, (2) reversing the trial court's ruling to give an improper jury charge, and (3) ordering that the trial proceed with a jury charge that accurately sets forth the elements of the charged offense. If the Court grants the petition for a writ of certiorari, Petitioner would request permission under the rules to fully brief the issues contained herein.