STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

RECEIVED

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. Circuit Court Judge MAY 19 2016

Order (S.C. Ct. Appeals, February 5, 2016
Appellate Case № 2015-002315

S.C. SUPREME COURT

State of South Carolina Petitioner,

v.

David Z. Ledford, Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 229-5010
SC Bar #: 006188

Attorney for Respondent

Statement of Issues Presented on Appeal

Did the Court of Appeals err in summarily dismissing the State's Appeal before briefing as "not immediately appealable" because it failed to consider the unusual circumstances presented by the action of the trial court, the patently erroneous ruling fo the trial court, and the novel question of law presented by the pursuit of this interlocutory appeal?

Statement of the Case

The Respondent agrees with the Statement of the Case as set forth by the Petitioner, except for the provision that the lower court “agreed” to hold the trial in abeyance until the appellate court rules. The lower court, as well as defense counsel, simply acknowledged that once the Notice of Appeal was filed, the court had no jurisdiction. App. at 496, ll 23-24.

Statement of the Facts

With the same exception discussed above, the Respondent also agrees with the Statement of the Facts.

Argument

Did the Court of Appeals err in summarily dismissing the State's Appeal before briefing as "not immediately appealable" because it failed to consider the unusual circumstances presented by the action of the trial court, the patently erroneous ruling of the trial court, and the novel question of law presented by the pursuit of this interlocutory appeal?

The Respondent contends that the decision by the trial judge to charge the jury the definition of "willfully" as alleged in the indictment is not "an order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action" as required by S. C. Code § 14-3-330. The State has represented to the trial court, to the South Carolina Court of Appeals and this Court, that by filing this appeal, the charge to the jury giving the definition of "willfully" as alleged in the indictment, "determines the action" as required by S. C. Code § 14-3-330. By so doing, the State has acknowledged that the evidence in this case is insufficient to sustain a conviction for a willful violation of S. C. Code § 16-3-95.

The trial judge in this matter has not suppressed any evidence that is the subject of this appeal. He has not quashed their indictment. All he has done is tell the State they must prove what they alleged in the indictment. While the charge as to mens rea may make proving the case more difficult for the State, the charge hardly prevents the State from winning, unless the State has acknowledged that the evidence does not establish willfulness. In that case, the State should dismiss the case in the event this appeal is denied.

Under S. C. Code § 17-19-90 Mr. Ledford would have been required to file a motion to quash the indictment if he believed the indictment to be vague or the statute to be over broad. If the indictment and the statute failed to contain a mens rea Mr. Ledford could have filed a pre-trial motion to determine what mens rea the state contended was required to convict Mr. Ledford.

By including the mens rea of “willfully” in the indictment, the State corrected any ambiguity in the statute as to the required mens rea and therefore a motion to quash the indictment would not be successful. The State apparently had no problem telling the grand jury they were going to prove Mr. Ledford acted willfully.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has held “The indictment is a notice document.” *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 102, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005). As such this indictment notified Mr. Ledford that the State intended to prove he willfully inflicted great bodily injury on the minor child. The State did not notify him they intended to prove he was negligent, grossly negligent or reckless in inflicting such injury.

The court in *Gentry* further stated the indictment must make sure “the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable . . . the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer” *Id.* at 102, 610 S.E.2d at 500. The State told Mr. Ledford he was called upon to answer an allegation that he willfully inflicted great bodily injury upon his child. Mr. Ledford took the State at its word. Trial preparation, theory of defense, direct and cross examination were all premised upon the State alleging and proving that Mr. Ledford wilfully inflicted great bodily harm on his child. Once he had completed his defense, the State now wishes to renege and tell the jury they do not have to prove Mr. Ledford acted wilfully. By contending immediately before closing argument that the State was not required to prove what

they alleged, they simply pulled an old “bait and switch.” Had such an act been done in a business transaction, the perpetrator of the act would have been subject to damages. *Partain v. Upstate Auto. Grp.*, 386 S.C. 488, 490, 689 S.E.2d 602, 603 (2010). Here, they should be simply held to their word.

At the trial conference Mr. Ledford and the trial court both agreed with the wording of the indictment as prepared by the State. Only the State at that point disagreed with the wording of the indictment it had prepared and had presented to the grand jury. If the indictment as a notice document is to have any meaning, it cannot mean the State can tell Mr. Ledford one thing at the start of the trial and then renege on what they said at the end. This is not a case where discovery may supply the information missing or different from the indictment. Mr. Ledford should be entitled to rely upon the indictment as prepared by the State. He can claim prejudice when the State wanted to change their indictment.

A ruling by the trial judge on a jury charge is not appealable by the State

In the only case counsel for Mr. Ledford has been able to find, the Vermont Supreme Court has held an interlocutory appeal is not proper in a dispute over jury charges. *State v. Premo*, 168 Vt. 600, 719 A.2d 398 (1998). Counsel has found no case in South Carolina which permits an interlocutory appeal that did not involve the suppression of evidence that was critical to the prosecution of the case or the quashing of an indictment. Counsel has also not found any reported case in South Carolina that permits an interlocutory appeal by the State after the jury is sworn. While granted the State will not be able to review an error on this charge on appeal, the same is true for any objection the State may have to any proposed jury charge. Virtually any charge to the jury favorable to the defendant would make the prosecution of the case more

difficult. While the State argued below, and apparently has on this appeal, that the proposed jury charge defining willfulness determines the action, the State could make a similar argument in virtually any interlocutory appeal involving a jury charge.¹ Unless this Court desires to micro-manage trials by permitting the State to appeal rulings on jury charges, this Court should summarily dismiss this appeal and remand the case back to the trial court. This is especially true when the charge to which the State complains is one they suggested by indicting Mr. Ledford for a willful violation of the Statute.

The charge to the jury was proper under South Carolina law

In *State v. Freeland*, 106 S.C. 220, 91 S.E. 3, 3 (1916) this Court was faced with a statute that had no mens rea. In that case this Court said “[T]he statute must be read in the light of the fundamental principle of the common law, which is of general, though, perhaps, not of universal, application, that an evil intent must concur with an act to make it a crime.” *Id.* at ___, 91 S.E. at 3. This Court further noted the trial judge gave a charge that provided “if defendant did not know that she had cocaine in her possession, she should be acquitted.” *Id.* at ___, 91 S.E. at 4. The court held this charge as to mens rea was proper except that it was too favorable. The Court said the lower court should have given a charge as to what is now called “wilful blindness.” Under the facts of this case, “wilful blindness” would not have been a correct charge as the facts did not support such a charge.² Concerning “wilful blindness” the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals

¹ Ironically, if the State conceded at the trial below that they had not proven willfulness, that willfulness was not the correct standard under the statute, then they would have an argument that the trial applied the wrong legal standard and could therefore appeal the directed verdict as it was caused by an error of law.

² The government never urged the lower court to charge “wilful blindness” as an addition to the wilful charge the court was going to charge.

said “[A] deliberate ignorance instruction should be given only when the government presents evidence of the defendant’s ‘(1) subjective awareness of a high probability of the existence of illegal conduct and (2) purposeful contrivance to avoid learning of the illegal conduct.’” *United States v. Threadgill*, 172 F.3d 357, 368 (5th Cir. 1999).

As no “wilful blindness” charge was proper under the facts, and none was requested by the State, the charge on wilfulness given by the trial court was in keeping with the *Freeland* case. The “criminal negligence” referred to in *State v. Ferguson*, 302 S.C. 269, 395 S.E.2d 182 (1990) is likewise “wilful blindness” as the case cited to *Freeland*. Nothing in the statute indicates an intent on the part of the legislature to impose a 20 year sentence simply because of a person being grossly negligent. Nor is *State v. Taylor*, 323 S.C. 162, 473 S.E.2d 817 (Ct. App. 1996). The Court in *Taylor* never said gross negligence or recklessness was the correct standard. They simply cited *Freeland* and stated that the statute required knowledge. Reckless homicide, which carries only a five year sentence, requires the State to prove gross negligence in causing a death. This Court should hold that wilful is the proper mens rea in a case under S. C. Code § 16-3-95.

The Court should remand the case to the trial court with instructions to dismiss the case